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Certificate of Interested Persons 
and Corporate Disclosure Statement 

In addition to those identified in the Certificate of Interested Persons and 

Corporate Disclosure Statement in Corrine Brown’s supplemental brief, the 

following persons and entities have an interest in the outcome of this case: 

 1. Andrews, Barbara, victim; 

 2. Andrews, John, victim; 

 3. Baker, John D., II, victim; 

 4. Bentley, A. Lee, III, former United States Attorney; 

 5. Bittel, Stephen, victim;  

 6. Bodnar, Roberta, Assistant United States Attorney; 

 7. C.A.P. Contracting, Inc., victim; 

 8. Caldwell, Leslie, former Assistant Attorney General,  
  United States Department of Justice; 

 9. Charter Communications (ticker symbol: CHTR), victim;  

 10. Chartrand, Gary, victim; 

 11. Community Leadership PAC, Inc., victim; 

 12. Cream, Anita M., Assistant United States Attorney; 

 13. Cronon, John P., Principal Assistant Attorney General, 
  Criminal Division, United States Department of Justice; 
 

 14. CSX Corporate Citizenship (ticker symbol: CSX), victim; 
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 15. Delaware North Companies, Inc. Buffalo, NY, victim; 

 16. Finker, Lonya, victim;  

 17. Flooring with Dimensions, dba S.L. Gresham Co.,    
  victim; 
 

 18. Florida East Coast Industries Company, LLC, victim; 

 19. Geraghty, Pat, victim; 

 20. Greenpointe Holdings, LLC, victim; 

 21. Greenspoon Marder, victim; 

 22. Hall, Loretta, victim;  

 23. Halverson, Steven T., victim; 

 24. Hulser, Raymond N., former Chief, Public Integrity Section,  
  United States Department of Justice; 
 

 25. Lazzara, Gaspar, victim; 

 26. Lipsky, Richard, victim; 

 27. Lopez, Maria Chapa, United States Attorney; 

 28. Ludwig Family Foundation, victim;  

 29. Marta Employees Charity Club, victim; 

 30. McFarland, Ryan E., Esq.; 

 31. McNamara, Linda Julin, Assistant United States Attorney, 
  Deputy Chief, Appellate Division;  
 
 32. Mills, Harry, victim;  
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 33. Mills, Rosa, victim; 

 34. Muldrow, W. Stephen, former Acting United States Attorney;  

 35. Orange Park Mitsubishi, victim; 
 
 36. Pajcic & Pajcic, victim; 

 37. Picerne Developmental Corporation, victim; 

 38. Picerne, John G., victim; 

 39. Simply Heathcare Plans, Inc., victim; 
 
 40. Stafftime, LLC, victim; 

 41. Stermon, Kent, victim; 

 42. Tirol, AnnaLou, Acting Chief, Public Integrity Section,  
  United States Department of Justice; 
 
  43. USSC, LLC, victim; 
   
 44. Ward, Michael, victim;  

 45. Wiggins, Janet, victim; and  

 46. Wiggins, Sidney, victim. 
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Statement Regarding Oral Argument 

This Court has scheduled oral argument for the week of December 10, 

2018, in Atlanta. 
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Statement of Jurisdiction 

The district court entered an order of forfeiture and restitution against 

Brown on December 6, 2017, Doc. 247, and Brown timely filed an amended 

notice of appeal from that order on December 20, 2017, Doc. 260. See Fed. R. 

App. P. 4(b)(1)(A). Although Brown did not challenge the forfeiture order in 

her principal brief, this Court has granted her unopposed motion for leave to 

file a supplemental brief on the issue and also allowed this supplemental brief 

in response. See July 17, 2018, Order. 
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Statement of the Issue 

Did the district court plainly err in entering a forfeiture money 

judgment that holds Brown liable for the criminal proceeds that 

the district court found she had received? 

Statement of the Case 

 Following the jury’s guilty verdicts against Brown, the United 

States filed an amended forfeiture motion seeking to recover the proceeds 

that Brown had received, directly or indirectly, as a result of her 

participation in the mail- and wire-fraud conspiracy. Doc. 233 at 4–5. The 

United States calculated those proceeds to be $664,292.39 and asked for 

Brown to “be held liable individually” for that amount. Id. The United States 

further explained that it would collect no more than a total of $654,292.39 of 

that amount from co-conspirators Brown, Simmons, and Wiley and no more 

than the remaining $10,000 from Brown and Simmons. Id. at 5. 

 Brown did not object to the United States’ forfeiture request (although 

she persisted in her claim of innocence). See Doc. 247 at 2.  

The district court granted the United States’ motion, finding that 

“the United States established that the defendant [Brown] obtained 

$664,292.39 in proceeds as a result of the offenses of conviction.” Id. at 1. The 
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court ruled that the United States “is entitled to forfeit the $664,292.39 

which the defendants obtained, directly or indirectly, as a result of 

participation in a conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud, and aiding and 

abetting mail and wire fraud.” Id. at 2. The court continued: “[Brown] shall 

be held liable individually for the $664,292.39; however, the United States 

will not collect more than the collective sum of $654,292.39 from the 

defendant and her co-conspirators Elias Simmons and Carla Wiley. The 

United States will not collect more than an additional $10,000.00 (for a 

collective total amount of $664,292.39) from the defendant and co-

conspirator Elias Simmons.” Id. at 2–3.  

Standard of Review 

Because Brown did not object to the forfeiture in the district court, this 

Court should review the forfeiture judgment against her for plain error only. 

See United States v. Presendieu, 880 F.3d 1228, 1237 (11th Cir. 2018) (“When a 

defendant raises issues for the first time on appeal, we review these issues for 

plain error only.”). She thus bears the burden of showing (1) error, (2) that is 

plain, and (3) that affects her substantial rights. See id. Even if Brown satisfies 

these conditions, this Court may exercise its discretion to recognize the 
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forfeited error only if it seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public 

reputation of judicial proceedings. See id. at 1238.  

Summary of the Argument 

The district court did not plainly err by entering a forfeiture money 

judgment against Brown in the amount of the proceeds of the fraud conspiracy. 

Brown was not held jointly liable for fraud proceeds obtained by someone else; 

she was held individually liable for fraud proceeds that she and her two cohorts 

jointly obtained. Therefore, Honeycutt does not apply, and certainly not plainly, 

because Honeycutt held only that coconspirators cannot be held jointly and 

severally liable for criminal proceeds that they did not obtain. And, in any 

event, Brown has not shown that she—the fraud conspiracy’s driving force—

was prejudiced by the asserted Honeycutt error or that holding her accountable 

for the fraud proceeds would seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or public 

reputation of judicial proceedings.  

Argument and Citations of Authority 

The district court did not plainly err in entering a forfeiture 
money judgment holding Brown liable for the criminal 
proceeds that she received. 
 
In her supplemental brief, Brown challenges for the first time the 

forfeiture money judgment against her. She does not contest the district court’s 

finding that $664,292.39 is subject to forfeiture; she argues that the court erred 
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in holding her “jointly and severally” liable with Simmons and Wiley for 

$654,292.39 and “jointly and severally” liable with Simmons for the remaining 

$10,000. Brown Supp. Br. at 2, 5. According to Brown, this violates Honeycutt 

v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 1626 (2017), which “held that forfeiture pursuant to 

21 U.S.C. § 853 ‘is limited to property the defendant himself actually acquired 

as the result of the crime.’” Brown Supp. Br. at 5 (quoting Honeycutt). She 

wants this Court to direct the district court to recalculate the forfeiture amount 

“based on the amount of property personally obtained” by her. Id. at 9. But the 

district court did not hold Brown jointly and severally liable for the fraud 

proceeds, nor did it hold her liable for proceeds that she had not obtained. 

Honeycutt thus provides her no relief, especially under plain-error review. 

“An error is not plain unless it is contrary to explicit statutory provisions 

or to on-point precedent in this Court or the Supreme Court.” United States v. 

Schultz, 565 F.3d 1353, 1357 (11th Cir. 2009). The forfeiture money judgment 

entered against Brown for the amount of proceeds that she and her cohorts 

jointly obtained from their conspiracy is not plainly contrary to Honeycutt. 

Honeycutt managed his brother’s store, which sold Polar Pure, a product 

that can be used to manufacture methamphetamine. Honeycutt, 137 S. Ct. at 

1630. Honeycutt was convicted of controlled-substance offenses relating to the 

sale of Polar Pure. Id. Although he did not stand to benefit personally from the 
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sale of the Polar Pure, the Sixth Circuit held that he was jointly and severally 

liable for the entire proceeds of the conspiracy. Id. at 1631. The Supreme Court 

reversed, holding that, under the drug-forfeiture statute, 21 U.S.C. § 853, 

forfeiture “is limited to property the defendant himself actually acquired as the 

result of the crime.” 137 S. Ct. at 1635. So a defendant may not be held 

“jointly and severally liable for property that his co-conspirator derived from 

the crime but that the defendant himself did not acquire.” Id. at 1630.  

Honeycutt, though, does not address—let alone decide—whether 

coconspirators can be held equally liable for crime proceeds that they jointly 

acquired. That is what happened here. As the district court found, Brown, 

Simmons, and Wiley jointly acquired the fraud proceeds, which were 

deposited into the One Door account. See Doc. 235 at 4–5. Indeed, “Brown 

was personally responsible for all or nearly all of the $833,000 that flowed into 

One Door because, without her clout, donors would not have given to One 

Door.” Id. at 16.  

“One Door for Education was operated as a criminal enterprise by Carla 

Wiley, Ronnie Simmons and Corrine Brown. While each had different roles in 

this criminal enterprise, they all reaped the benefits of their fraudulent 

activities.” Id. at 3. One Door funds were “primarily used to line the pockets of 

Ms. Wiley, Mr. Simmons and Ms. Brown or to fund events that mainly 
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benefited Ms. Brown, but did not help children.” Id. at 4. And, although Wiley 

was the only authorized signatory on the One Door account, the three 

defendants shared access to it; Simmons had the checkbook and debit card, 

“[a]nd as quickly as the money flowed in, [he] withdrew it at Ms. Brown’s 

direction.” Id. (emphasis added). Indeed, when Brown directed Simmons to 

move money from that account into her personal bank account, she frequently 

asked Simmons about and otherwise monitored the account balance. See PSR 

¶¶ 56, 60.1 

In sum, the fraudulently obtained funds deposited into One Door’s 

account were acquired by—and were available to—Brown, as well as her co-

conspirators. Therefore, as the district court found, “the United States 

established that the defendant [Brown] obtained $664,292.39 in proceeds as a 

result of the offenses of conviction.”2 Doc. 247 at 1. And the court, obviously 

                                                 
1The district court found that the fraud loss attributable to Brown was 

$664,292.39 and rejected her attempt to exclude from her loss amount the 
portion of those proceeds that Wiley and Simmons ultimately had taken and 
about which Brown claimed to have no personal knowledge. Id. at 15, 16. 

 
2In contrast, in United States v. Carlyle, the district court had found only 

that the proceeds were “obtained from the wire fraud scheme to which 
[Carlyle] pled guilty”; it did not specifically find that Carlyle had obtained 
those proceeds. 712 F. App’x 862, 863 (11th Cir. 2017). Yet it held Carlyle 
jointly and severally liable for the entire proceeds. Id. Given the absence of a 
factual finding as to the amount of proceeds that Carlyle had obtained, coupled 
with Carlyle’s timely objection that preserved the issue, the United States 
conceded that a remand was warranted. See id. at 864.  

Case: 17-15470     Date Filed: 09/13/2018     Page: 14 of 19 



 

7 

mindful of Honeycutt’s prohibition on joint and several liability, ordered that 

Brown “be held liable individually” for that amount. Id. at 2. 

As a result, Honeycutt’s prohibition on joint and several liability for 

proceeds acquired by someone else does not apply—and certainly not 

plainly—to a situation like this one, where the defendant and her 

coconspirators jointly acquired the criminal proceeds. See United States v. 

Hoffman, No. 16-30013, 2018 WL 4042217, at *26 n.27 (5th Cir. Aug. 24, 

2018) (published) (“The defendants do not invoke Honeycutt, however, perhaps 

because all three were Seven Arts co-owners and therefore ‘acquired’ the ill-

gotten tax credits.”).  

Stated differently, Honeycutt does not plainly limit Brown’s forfeiture 

liability to the portion of the proceeds that she personally pilfered from the One 

Door account. She was responsible for the fraud that brought those proceeds 

into the One Door account; at that point, she and her co-conspirators had 

(jointly) acquired the proceeds, regardless of which of them later ended up with 

which portion of the money. See, e.g., United States v. Ford, 296 F. Supp. 3d 

1251, 1258 (D. Or. 2017) (“Honeycutt does not require that Defendant still be in 

possession of his ill-gotten proceeds, it merely limits forfeiture to proceeds that 

he obtained at some point from his crimes.”). In sum, the district court 

properly held Brown accountable in forfeiture for the fraud proceeds in that 
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jointly possessed account, notwithstanding that her co-conspirators also had 

their hands in that cookie jar. There was no plain error.3 

But, even if governing authority established a plain error, Brown still 

would not deserve relief because she has not satisfied the third or fourth prong 

of plain-error review. To satisfy the third prong, Brown must establish that the 

error affected her substantial rights, “which essentially requires the error to 

have affected the outcome of the district court proceedings.” United States v. 

Gonzalez, 550 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks 

omitted). “This burden of showing prejudice to meet the third-prong 

requirement is anything but easy.” United States v. Rodriguez, 398 F.3d 1291, 

299 (11th Cir. 2005). 

Brown does not articulate any argument to support her bare assertion 

that “she was prejudiced.” See Brown’s Supp. Brief at 7. Instead, she asserts 

only that “there can be no doubt that, had the district court followed 

[Honeycutt], the forfeiture order would have been different.” Id. But the order 

                                                 
3Indeed, there was no error at all. Although this Court need not decide 

the issue de novo here, when coconspirators jointly obtain crime proceeds, 
they should be held equally liable for the entire amount of the proceeds that 
they jointly obtained. As explained above, this approach does not conflict with 
Honeycutt, because each defendant is being held liable only for the proceeds 
that he or she obtained, even if in a particular case—like this one—each ends 
up liable for the entire proceeds. (In such a case, each one is entitled to an 
offset for amounts collected from coconspirators, to avoid the United States’ 
over-collecting, as the district court correctly ruled here, Doc. 247 at 2–3.)  
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could be different only if Brown did not obtain the $664,292.65, yet the district 

court found that she—and various permutations of her conspirators—did 

jointly obtain that amount. Brown makes no attempt to refute that finding. In 

other words, she has not satisfied her burden of showing that the district court 

would have held her liable for less. That she and her cohorts ultimately spent 

differing portions of the proceeds after their deposit into the One Door account 

is not dispositive, as explained above. 

Finally, any error in holding Brown (and her coconspirators) liable for 

the criminal proceeds that they jointly received would not seriously affect the 

fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, as required 

before this Court may exercise its discretion under the fourth prong of plain-

error review. See United States v. Presendieu, 880 F.3d 1228, 1238 (11th Cir. 

2018). Holding a conspirator liable for the proceeds that she and her 

coconspirators jointly received from a jointly undertaken criminal conspiracy is 

not manifestly unjust. Indeed, doing so could hardly be further from the 

hypothetical posited by the Supreme Court in Honeycutt of a college student 

who had been paid $3600 to distribute marijuana on campus being held liable 

for the entire $3 million that a farmer “mastermind” had earned from his 

scheme to grow, harvest, and distribute marijuana on college campuses. See 

Honeycutt, 137 S. Ct. at 1631–32; cf. SEC v. Metter, 706 F. App’x 699, 702 n.2 
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(2d Cir. 2017) (Honeycutt “protects incidental figures from forfeiture of 

amounts far beyond what would be justified by their role in the offense”). 

Because Brown has not satisfied the fourth plain-error criterion either, this 

Court may not—and, in any event, should not—exercise its discretion to grant 

her relief. 

Conclusion 

The United States requests that this Court affirm the forfeiture judgment 

of the district court. 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       MARIA CHAPA LOPEZ 
       United States Attorney 
 
       LINDA JULIN MCNAMARA  
       Assistant United States Attorney 
       Deputy Chief, Appellate Division 
 
      By: s/ David P. Rhodes                                 
       DAVID P. RHODES 
       Assistant United States Attorney 
       Chief, Appellate Division 
       Florida Bar No. 438741 
       400 N. Tampa St., Ste. 3200 
       Tampa, FL 33602 
       (813) 274-6000  
       david.rhodes@usdoj.gov 
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